IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-2721

L.T. CASE NO.: 1D01-3181

DELTA PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, INC.

Petitioner,

vs.

PROFILE INVESTMENTS, INC.

Respondent.___/

BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF PETITIONER

JOHN R. BERANEK, ESQ. AUSLEY & McMULLEN Co-counsel for Petitioner 227 S. Calhoun Street P.O. Box 391 Tallahassee, FL 32302-0391 Telephone: (850) 224-9115

JOHN R. HARGROVE, ESQ. W. KENT BROWN, ESQ. HEINRICH GORDON HARGROVE WEIHE & JAMES, P.A. Co-counsel for Petitioner 500 East Broward Boulevard Suite 1000 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33394 Telephone: (954) 527-2800

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Ι

THE CASE

This case involves a forfeiture of real property resulting from a tax sale in violation of the due process standard set forth in <u>Mennonite Board of Missions v. Adams</u>, 462 U.S. 791 (1983).

¹ Petitioner, DELTA PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, INC. ("DELTA"), appeals a final summary judgment quieting title to commercial property which it owned, then lost in a tax sale to respondent PROFILE INVESTMENTS, INC. ("PROFILE"), a business engaged in buying tax deeds. DELTA answered and counterclaimed contending essentially that the tax deed in favor of PROFILE was invalid because proper notice of the tax sale was not given as required by law to DELTA or to its mortgagee (AT&T Commercial Finance Corporation). (R1: 42-46) Cross motions for summary judgment were

filed, and the trial court ruled in favor of PROFILE. (R1: 36-37, 110-126, 150-156)

The final judgment was affirmed by the First District in a two-to-one decision with Judge Ervin dissenting.² The essential basis for the majority decision below was its conclusion that the clerk of the court had no duty to ask the tax collector for updated "name and address" information prior to sending out a tax sale notice to the owner. According to the majority, it did not matter that an updated tax

In <u>Mennonite</u>, the United States Supreme Court held that when an owner is in danger of forfeiting property, "[n]otice by mail or other means as certain to ensure actual notice is the minimum constitutional precondition ... if [the owner's] name and address are *reasonably ascertainable*." <u>Id.</u> at 800 (emphasis added). <u>Mennonite</u>, in turn, formed the basis of <u>Dawson v.</u> <u>Saada</u>, 608 So. 2d 806 (Fla. 1992), in which this Court ruled that "knowledge of delinquency in the payment of taxes is not equivalent to notice that a tax sale is pending [and] ... does not relieve the state of its constitutional obligation to inform interested parties of the pendency of a tax sale." <u>Id.</u> at 810.

² A copy of the First District's opinion in this case is attached as an appendix to this brief and is designated as (A.).

assessment roll for the year 2000 containing DELTA's new address had become available during the five-month gap between the time the clerk first received DELTA's address from the tax collector in April of 2000 and the time the clerk actually sent out the notice of tax sale to DELTA in September of

2000. In a nine-page dissent, however, Judge Ervin vigorously disagreed with the majority and detailed the due process and statutory deficiencies in the majority's analysis. The dissent was subsequently adopted by the Fourth District in <u>Baron v. Rhett</u>, 847 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), which expressly certified conflict with the First District's decision.

The case is now before this Court on two jurisdictional grounds. First, there is an express and direct conflict with <u>Baron</u>. In each case the forfeiture occurred because the clerk of the circuit court failed to mail the notice of tax sale to the name and address of the property owner shown on the *latest* assessment roll as required by statute. In <u>Baron</u> the tax sale was invalidated, but in this case it was upheld. Second, this case impacts two classes of constitutional officers, namely clerks of the circuit court and tax collectors. <u>See</u> Art. VIII, § 1(d), Fla. Const.

II

THE FACTS

DELTA owns several pieces of commercial property in Duval County. The property in issue is worth in excess of \$1 million, and it has been owned by DELTA since 1995. (R1:98) With the exception of one aberrant year (1997), DELTA paid each year's real estate taxes on the property -- including the taxes due in the *following* year (1998). (R1:99-101) In fact, the 1997 real property tax of \$17,491.62 was not paid due simply to an undisputed oversight. It is that oversight which resulted in the issuance of the tax certificate purchased by PROFILE in

April of 1998. (R1: 18-20, 99)

The following chronology sets forth the circumstances leading up to DELTA's loss of its property through a tax sale to PROFILE:

- July 1, 1999: The 1999 tax assessment roll was certified containing DELTA's address in Jacksonville, Florida.
- **December 1999**: DELTA provided the tax collector with written notice of its *new* address in Hallandale, Florida. (R1: 107-109)
- April 3, 2000: PROFILE applied for a tax deed following expiration of the statutory two-year redemption period. (R1:25)
- May 30, 2000: The tax collector provided the clerk with DELTA's old address as it had appeared on the 1999 assessment roll. (A. 2; R1: 24, 28)
- July 1, 2000: A new assessment roll was certified containing DELTA's updated address in Hallandale. (A. 4; R1: 146-47)
- September 4, 2000: Relying solely on the May 30th statement from the tax collector, the clerk mailed the tax sale notice to DELTA at the outdated 1999 address

in Jacksonville. (A. 2; R1: 31, 34) The clerk sent a separate notice to the mortgagee, but put the wrong name on it. Both notices were eventually returned "undeliverable". (R1:34-35)

• September 27, 2000: DELTA lost its property at a tax sale. (A. 2)

As the timeline illustrates,³ the clerk prepared and mailed the notice of tax sale to DELTA, but it was not based upon the "*latest* assessment roll" because a new assessment roll had been certified in July of 2000. (A. 4; R1:146-47) The clerk unfortunately used the address for DELTA contained in the outdated 1999 assessment roll. Compounding the error, no notice whatsoever was sent to the mortgagee of record, AT&T

³ For the court's convenience and quick reference, the timeline can be summarized as follows:

	DELTA	1999	P	ROFILE	Tax Collecto	or 20)00	Clerk M	ails DELTA
Sale	Buys Property	Tax	Applies for T		tatement to Clerk with		Notice o coll	f Tax Sale to	Loses Property at Tax
				DELTA's 1999 Address			DELTA old addr		
			in Jacksonville				in Jacks	onville	
-	/ /-								-
	1995	7/1/1999	4/23/2000	5/30/2000	7/1/2	000	9/4/20	00	9/27/2000
			<tax rol<="" th=""><th>l shows Jac</th><th>ksonville add</th><th>lress</th><th>> <]</th><th>Fax Roll :</th><th>shows Hallandale</th></tax>	l shows Jac	ksonville add	lress	> <]	Fax Roll :	shows Hallandale
address	s>								

Commercial Finance Corporation.⁴

On appeal DELTA argued that the tax sale was void for failure to comply with § 197.502(4)(a), which explicitly requires a notice of tax sale to be mailed to the address of the property owner as it appears on the "latest assessment roll."

(A. 3-4) Acknowledging that the 2000 tax roll reflecting DELTA's accurate address may well have been completed and "available to the clerk" when the notice was mailed, (A. 5) the majority nevertheless concluded that there was nothing improper about the clerk using DELTA's old address from an outdated tax assessment roll. (A. 5-6) It reasoned that the clerk "perform[s] a purely ministerial function when providing notice of an upcoming tax sale" and therefore "had no duty to look beyond the tax collector's statement" right or wrong. (A. 5-6) To hold otherwise, according to the majority, would improperly force the clerk to "diligently search the public records for proper addresses." (A. 6)

In his dissent, Judge Ervin focused on the vested property rights that were forfeited as a result of the tax sale and

⁴ The record shows that the notice to the mortgagee was incorrectly sent to "Commercial Finance Corporation." While this company name may appear similar to that of the mortgagee, the law provides that corporate names must be precise on documents which have legal consequences. <u>See, e.g., Louis v. S.</u> <u>Broward Hosp. Dist.</u>, 353 So. 2d 562 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978).

determined that the majority opinion could not be reconciled with the applicable statutes, with <u>Dawson</u>, or with due process under Mennonite. In this regard, he observed:

> What the majority and the lower court apparently fail to understand, however, is that §§ 197.502(4)(a) and 197.522 (1)(a), when construed in pari materia, require the clerk to mail the notice to the record titleholder's address as it appeared on the latest assessment roll, which in this case was required by law to have been completed as of July 1, 2000. As stated, the notice was not mailed until September 4, 2000, more than two months thereafter. It seems altogether clear to me that the clerk simply did not comply with his statutory duty.

> If the applicable notice statutes can be interpreted, as the majority has done, as authorizing the clerk to send a notice to a titleholder at an incorrect address based on a tax roll that had been superseded by a later roll containing the correct address at the time of mailing, such interpretation, in my judgment, would have serious constitutional implications.

(A. 12-13; emphasis added) Judge Ervin concluded:

[A] reasonable interpretation of [the statutory notice procedures] is that the clerk is simply directed to request the tax collector, once he is aware that the information contained in a statement may no longer be current because it was based on a tax roll since superseded, to supply him with a supplemental statement reflecting any updated materials.

(A. 15-16; emphasis added) In Baron, the Fourth District

adopted Judge Ervin's reasoning, thereby creating conflict.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is an appeal from a final summary judgment. The issues are therefore reviewed *de novo*.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The clerk of the circuit court is a constitutional officer. As such, there is a constitutional duty to provide notice of a tax sale to the owner by means "certain to ensure actual notice [where the owner's] name and address are reasonably . . . ascertainable." Mennonite Bd. of Missions v. Adams, 462 U.S. 791, 800 (1983) (emphasis added); see also Dawson v. Saada, 608 So. 2d 806 (Fla. 1992). Despite the mandate of the United States Supreme Court in Mennonite, the majority below surprisingly ignored due process altogether, failed to give meaning to the controlling statutes and upheld a tax sale resulting in DELTA forfeiting its property. In a sharp departure from Mennonite, the majority concluded that the circuit court clerk had no duty to obtain updated information even though available, reasoning that since the clerk's duty is "purely ministerial" the clerk is permitted to rely on the tax collector's statement whether or not it is current.

In his dissent, Judge Ervin correctly recognized due process as the central theme of the case, observing that where property rights are about to be forfeited through a tax sale the clerk as a constitutional officer has the *obligation* to use the latest

information available in preparing the notice thereof. In <u>Baron</u> <u>v. Rhett</u>, 847 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003), the Fourth District saw the issue exactly as Judge Ervin did, thereby creating the conflict now before the Court. In <u>Baron</u> the Fourth District stated:

> Judqe We with Ervin, adopt agree the reasoning of his dissent, and certify conflict with <u>Delta Property Management v.</u> <u>Profile Investments, Inc.</u>, 830 So. 2d 867 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). It is true that the statutes do not require the clerk to do anything more than rely upon the tax collector's statement in preparing the tax sale notices. However, there could come a point in time when the tax collector's statement no longer represents those who are entitled to notice.

<u>Id.</u> at 1035 (emphasis added). This is precisely the teaching of <u>Mennonite</u>. When the tax collector's statement no longer reflects the most current information as to those entitled to notice, the clerk has a constitutional duty to obtain an updated statement. In this case <u>Mennonite</u> was not followed; due process was denied; and the First District's decision must therefore be reversed.

ARGUMENT

<u>CLERK'S NOTICE OF TAX SALE</u> <u>SENT TO TITLEHOLDER AT INCORRECT ADDRESS</u> <u>BASED ON OUTDATED AND SUPERSEDED TAX ROLL</u> <u>VIOLATED DUE PROCESS WHERE NEW TAX ROLL</u> CONTAINED CORRECT ADDRESS AT TIME OF MAILING

Ι

STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Once the statutory machinery leading to a tax sale is set in motion under <u>Florida Statutes</u> § 197.432, the tax collector is required to prepare and deliver a statement (known as an "ownership and encumbrance report") to the clerk of the circuit court listing the parties to be notified of the impending tax sale pursuant to § 197.502(4).

⁵ The statute provides in relevant part:

(4) The tax collector shall deliver to the clerk of the circuit court a statement . . . stating that the following persons are to be notified prior to the sale of the property:

(a) Any legal titleholder of record if the address of the owner appears on the record of conveyance of the lands to the owner. However, if the legal titleholder of record is the same as the person to whom the property was assessed on the tax roll for the year in which the property was last assessed, then the notice may only be mailed to the address of the legal titleholder as it appears on the latest assessment roll.

⁵ As DELTA explained in its jurisdictional brief, the positions of the clerk of the circuit court and the county tax collector are both expressly created by the Florida Constitution, <u>see</u> Art. VIII, § 1(d), Fla. Const., and this Court routinely resolves matters which affects the duties of such officers. <u>See, e.g.</u>, <u>Taylor v. Tampa Electric Co.</u>, 356 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 1978); <u>Tyson v. Lanier</u>, 156 So. 2d 833, 835 (Fla. 1963).

* * *

(c) Any mortgagee of record if an address appears on the recorded mortgage.

(Emphasis added)⁶ The clerk's duties are then enumerated in § 197.522, which specifies:

(1)(a) The clerk of the circuit court *shall* notify by certified mail . . . the persons listed in the tax collector's statement pursuant to § 197.502(4) that an application for a tax deed has been made.

<u>Florida Statutes</u> § 197.522(1)(a)(emphasis added). The clerk's compliance with this provision is *mandatory* and non-delegable. <u>Dawson v. Saada</u>, 608 So. 2d 806 (Fla. 1992).

7

The first statute requires the notice to be mailed *only* to the owner's address appearing on the *latest* tax roll. <u>See</u> <u>Saqqese v. Dep't of Revenue</u>, 770 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 4th DCA

⁶ Use of the term "only" to modify the directive "may" ş 197.502(4) indicates the mandatory nature of this in requirement. See, e.g., Perry v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 352 So. 2d 1194 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977)(term "may" construed as "must" in connection with public official performance of duties)(quoting Seaboard Air Line Ry. Co. v. Wells, 100 Fla. 1027, 130 So. 587 (Fla. 1930)).

Nearly every case cited by PROFILE in its jurisdictional brief to support upholding the tax sale predated this Court's seminal decision in <u>Dawson</u>. In fact, one of PROFILE's lead cases --<u>Mullin v. Polk County</u>, 76 So. 2d 282 (Fla. 1954) -- even predated the current version of the statute. The statute at issue in <u>Mullin</u> had excused the clerk from even having to mail a notice of tax sale to the owner. Not only has that statutory provision been repealed, <u>see</u> Ch. 22079 § 17 at 883, Laws of Fla. (1943), but it runs directly contrary to this Court's directive in <u>Dawson</u> that the clerk's duty to provide notice is *mandatory*.

2000). The second requires the clerk to prepare and mail this notice. It therefore necessarily follows, *in pari materia*, that the clerk must ensure that the notice actually contains the address from the *latest* tax roll available -- not simply from the latest tax collector's statement.⁸ The clerk is charged with knowledge of the latest tax roll which is updated every July pursuant to § 193.1142, so it is not reasonable for the clerk to rely on a statement from the tax collector that predates the latest roll. Since the 2000 tax assessment roll was indeed the "latest" roll, it was error to rely on the outdated 1999 information.⁹ This problem arose because the tax collector's

8

Like all statutes on a single subject, the tax delinquency statutes must be construed *in pari materia*. <u>Dawson</u>, 608 So. 2d at 809.

In dicta the First District observed that while the record contains a printout of the 2000 assessment roll containing DELTA's updated address, the record contains no evidence showing that the 2000 roll was timely certified by the statutory July 1st deadline. § 193.1142, Fla. Stat. As Judge Ervin explained in his dissent, however, the court must presume that the property appraiser fulfilled his duty in this regard on a timely basis. In Judge Ervin's words:

[[]W]e are required to presume on the basis of this record that the property appraiser complied with the command of § 193.023(1) ... It is a long established rule that elected and public officials are presumed to perform their duties in a lawful and proper manner. <u>See County of Palm Beach v. State</u>, 342 So. 2d 56, 58 n.1 (Fla. 1976); <u>Straughn v. Tuck</u>, 354 So. 2d 368 (Fla. 1977) [B]ecause [PROFILE] presented no proof that the property appraiser failed to comply with the statutory certification deadline, I am of the firm opinion that we must presume he carried out the duty imposed by law.

Delta, 830 So. 2d at 871 (Ervin, J., dissenting). Furthermore, once DELTA offered the July 2000 assessment roll in support of its motion for summary judgment, the burden shifted to PROFILE to offer counter-evidence on the timeliness issue

statement was prepared and forwarded to the clerk some five months ahead of time, and the assessment roll changed in the interim. In fact, the new 2000 assessment roll contained DELTA's correct address since DELTA had provided the tax collector with its change of address several months earlier. Judge Ervin recognized in his dissent that it would have been an easy matter for the clerk to have requested an updated statement from the tax collector, so that he could comply with the statutory mandate of using information from the "latest assessment roll." (A. 15-16) Unfortunately the clerk failed to do so, and the tax sale should therefore be declared void.

if it intended to challenge the relevance of the tax roll, but it did not do so. See Landers v. Milton, 370 So. 2d 368 (Fla. 1979).

DUE PROCESS

This Court recognized in <u>Dawson v. Saada</u>, 608 So. 2d 806 (Fla. 1992), that the guiding principle of the statutory tax sale structure is due process. <u>Dawson</u> holds that the government's duty to mail proper notice to a property owner under § 197.522(1) is *mandatory*.

A landowner whose property is to be sold for delinquent taxes undoubtedly has a vested ownership interest in the subject property and is therefore entitled to notice of a deed pending tax sale In any proceeding which is to be accorded finality, due process requires notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity Without to present their objections. ... the notice mandated by § 197.522 (1), the fundamental requirement of due process has not been satisfied and the tax deed or sale is not valid.

<u>Id.</u> at 808-09 (citations omitted; emphasis added). In so ruling, this Court rejected the argument that an owner's failure to pay taxes could "relieve the state of its constitutional obligation to inform interested parties of the pendency of a tax sale." <u>Id.</u> at 810 (quoting <u>Mennonite</u>). This Court based its ruling on the United States Supreme Court's decision in <u>Mennonite</u>, which made it clear that due process protections must be strictly adhered to when the consequence of not paying taxes is a property forfeiture.

A. <u>Due Process under Mennonite</u>

As <u>Mennonite</u> reflects, it was not a difficult case to decide. Sound due process principles from past decisions were simply applied to real property forfeitures. In the Court's own words, application of due process to a real property forfeiture is both "elementary" and "fundamental."

> In <u>Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust</u> <u>Co.</u>, 339 U.S. 306, 314, 70 S.Ct. 652, 657, 94 L.Ed 865 (1950), this Court recognized that prior to an action which will affect an interest in life, liberty, or property protected by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, a State must provide "notice reasonably calculated, *under all circumstances*, to apprise interested parties of the pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections." Invoking this "elementary and fundamental requirement of due process," <u>ibid</u>, the Court held that published notice of an action to settle the accounts of a common trust fund was not sufficient to inform beneficiaries of the trust whose names and addresses were known.

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