## IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

# DELTA PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, INC.

Petitioner,

Case No. SC02-2721 1DCA Case No. 01-3181

vs.

PROFILE INVESTMENTS, INC.,

Respondent.

## ANSWER BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT PROFILE INVESTMENTS, INC.

William S. Graessle Florida Bar No. 498898 William S. Graessle & Associates 219 Newnan Street, 4<sup>th</sup> Floor Jacksonville, Florida 32202 (904) 353-6333 (904) 353-2080 facsimile

#

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Florida law is settled that when the statutory procedures mandated by the legislature have been followed, due process has been afforded and a tax deed issued under Chapter 197 will not be set aside.

The argument of last resort made here by Delta is in part based upon a completely false assertion, that the 2000 tax roll had been certified and, therefore, the clerk had available to it (via some other, statutorily unauthorized search of other public records) Delta's "correct" address and had a duty to make such a search and provide Delta notice at an address different than that contained in the tax collector's statement. As the district court below recognized, Delta's contention is without <u>any evidentiary</u> <u>support</u> (Opinion at 5) and more importantly, is legally irrelevant.

The decision of the district court below is in complete accord with this Court's decisions and previous decisions of all other district courts, all of which recognize that when the clerk follows the statutory procedure, the tax deed issued pursuant to the sale is valid and that the notice provisions having been complied with satisfy all of the due process requirements established by the legislature or mandated by the Constitution.

## ARGUMENT

## I. THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT BELOW IN <u>DELTA</u> <u>PROPERTY MANAGEMENT, INV. V. PROFILE INVESTMENTS,</u> <u>INC.</u>, 830 SO. 2D 867 (FLA. 1<sup>ST</sup> DCA 2002) IS CORRECT AND SHOULD BE APPROVED.

This decision of the first district below in **Delta Property** 

Management, Inv. v. Profile Investments, Inc., 830 So. 2d 867 (Fla. 1st DCA

2002), is in complete accord with the provisions of Chapter 197, with this

Court's decision in Dawson v. Saada, 608 So. 2d 804 (Fla. 1992), all other

previous decisions of the other district courts<sup>2</sup>, and is in no way impacted by the decision

in Mennonite Board of Missions v. Adams, 462 U.S. 791 (1983),

conspicuously virtually the only "authority" relied upon by Delta herein for

its claim that the statute had not been complied with and its due process

rights violated.

What Delta advocates here is for this Court to rewrite the governing statutes and reverse numerous decisions of this Court and the district courts in order to provide Delta a remedy for its own misfeasance in the handling of its business affairs. Delta's entire argument inverts the proper analysis, as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The sole exception is a decision by the fourth district rendered after the decision *sub judice*, <u>Baron v. Rhett</u>, 847 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2003) in which the fourth district certified conflict with this case and which is pending in this Court, case no. 1377. With the sole exception of <u>Baron</u>, all other district courts have held that only the statute governs the clerk's duties. As noted by the district court here, the dissent of Judge Ervin, relied upon by the fourth district in <u>Baron</u>, would effectively rescind the legislature's 1985 revisions to the governing statutes.

conspicuously absent from Delta's arguments is <u>any</u> recognition of its own legal obligations which forms the underpinning for this entire case. The law in this state is clear that the burden of paying taxes, being aware of the absolute obligation to pay taxes and ensuring that any delinquent taxes are paid, directly and unconditionally falls on the land owner, even if the land owner is incompetent, <u>see Stubbs v. Cummings</u>, 336 So. 2d 412 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1976), or is a foreign national living overseas, <u>see Alwani v. Slocum</u>, 540 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1989), much less a sophisticated corporation owning commercial real estate. As will be demonstrated herein, the procedures followed below by the tax collector and clerk of the circuit court were in strict compliance with the governing statutes and the tax deed issued to Profile is valid.

As admitted by Delta in its Initial Brief, it failed to pay the taxes on the subject property for 1997 and took no steps whatsoever to correct this omission. Accordingly, it has no one to blame but itself for the current predicament in which it finds itself, in which the loss of its property is not only legally authorized, but under the facts of this case, was absolutely mandated.

Delta's claims that its due process rights were violated is without any basis whatsoever. The statutory scheme followed by the tax collector and clerk afforded Delta all the process it was due and is fundamentally a legislative determination.

The legal context for Delta's arguments and the decision of the district court will be addressed serially.

## A. THE CONTROLLING STATUTORY PROCEDURES WERE FOLLOWED BY THE CLERK OF THE COURT.

Delta engages in a disingenuous argument with its claim that the statutory notice procedures under Section 197.522(1)(a), Florida Statutes, were not followed below. This is demonstrably false and has been advanced by Delta here because this is the sole basis (other than proof of payment) on which a tax deed will be set aside.

Section 197.432, Florida Statutes, establishes the procedures for the sale of tax certificates for any year in which the real estate taxes are not paid. The record below demonstrates (R. 12-35) that the 1997 taxes for the property at issue in this case were unpaid by Delta and that in 1998 a tax certificate was issued pursuant to this statutory authorization.

When a two year period has passed and the taxes have still not been paid, an application for issuance of a tax deed may be made. In that case, the statute mandates that the tax collector prepare and deliver a "statement" to the clerk of the circuit court, listing the parties to be notified of the impending tax sale pursuant to Section 197.502(4), which in pertinent part provides:

(4) The tax collector shall deliver to the clerk of the circuit court a statement...stating that the following persons are to be notified prior to the sale of the property:

(a) Any legal titleholder of record if the address of the owner appears on the record of conveyance of the lands to the owner. However, if the legal titleholder of record is the same as the person to whom the property was assessed on the tax roll for the year in which the property was last assessed, then the notice may only be mailed to the address of the legal title holder as it appears on the latest assessment roll.

Section 197.522 provides that:

(1)(a) The clerk of the circuit court shall notify by certified mail... the persons listed in the tax collector's statement pursuant to§ 197.502(4) that an application for a tax deed has been made.

The record below conclusively demonstrates that the "latest assessment roll" as that term is used in Section 197.502(4)(a), available to the tax collector at the time it prepared and provided the information to the circuit court clerk, was the tax roll certified by the tax collector for 1999 and that the information provided to the clerk by the tax collector accurately reflected Delta's correct address at the time (R. 12-35). This Record shows that although Delta states that it moved from its Jacksonville location in March 1999 (R. 98-104) it did not notify the tax collector of its "correct" address until eight months later (R. 107-109). Query whether reasonable notice to the tax collector would have resulted in Delta's "correct" address being included in the 1999 assessment roll, which was provided by the tax collector to the clerk, and which the clerk was required to use, and which was in fact used by the clerk (Opinion at 3). Regardless, Delta's claim that the tax deed should be voided because it provided a change of address form to the tax collector after it provided the clerk with the statement required by Section 197.502(4) is legerdemain and is a straw man argument.

First, Delta's claim that the year 2000 tax roll containing the "new address" for Delta had been contained in the year 2000 tax roll which had been certified by the tax collector prior to the clerk mailing the Notice of Sale (and was required to be used by the clerk) is <u>without any record support</u>

<u>whatsoever</u>: as the district court below noted "Delta's argument lacks evidentiary foundation in the record." (Opinion at 5). The Record (R. 12-35) shows unequivocally that the "latest assessment roll," prepared by the tax collector and provided to the clerk as required by §197.502(4)(a) was for 1999, and was used by the clerk in compiling the notices of the tax sale; it showed that the legal title holder of the property at issue was Delta Property Management, Inc. with an address of 8701 Phillips Highway, No. 104, Jacksonville, Florida 32256. Dispositively, <u>the clerk served the notices of sale in accordance with that information.</u>

Second, as recognized by the district court below, this latter fact is dispositive of this entire appeal, as whether the tax roll for 2000 containing a "correct address" for Delta is irrelevant. The statute is unequivocal that once the information is supplied to the clerk by the tax collector, the clerk must as a matter of law rely solely upon this information <u>regardless of its accuracy</u> in sending the notices of sale and that a tax deed subsequently issued as a result of that sale is unconditionally valid.

What Delta really advocates here is that the clerk of court had a duty to look behind the information provided by the tax collector to "discover" Delta's current address. This contention has been rejected by this Court and virtually all the district courts, each of whom recognize that the question of what procedures are required in the issuance of tax deeds is a question for the legislature. As recognized by the district court below (Opinion at 6, n \*), Judge Ervin's dissent, upon which Delta's entire argument is based, would "effectively rescind the 1985 statutory enactments." As will be demonstrated next, all other courts have rejected this approach, with the sole exception of the recent fourth district in <u>Baron v. Rhett</u>, which essentially adopted the dissent below.

## **B.** THE DECISIONAL LAW

A review of the applicable case law demonstrates that Delta's arguments are contrary to the plain statutory language and have been rejected by this Court and virtually all other district court's who have addressed the principles governing the issuance of a tax deed.

In <u>Eurofund Forty-Six Ltd. v. Terry</u>, 755 So. 2d 835 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2000), the fifth district rejected the identical claim as that made by Delta here, that a tax deed issued to the appellee was invalid because the appellant did not receive notice of the sale even though he had filed an address change with the tax collector. The district court's opinion recites that the clerk sent notice of the sale required by Section 197.502(4)(a) in reliance on the tax collector's statement and in so doing, had strictly complied with the

statutory requirements. Crucial for disposing of the issue raised by Delta here is the district court's holding:

The fact that sometime in 1997 a change of address form had been filed with the property appraiser did not require the collector or the clerk to deviate from the statutory mandate.

## <u>Id.</u> at 835.

The district court below reached the same conclusion: the clerk was entitled to rely upon the information provided by the tax collected, and whether an "intervening" change of address for the property owner showed up in some public record was irrelevant. (Opinion at 5)

The district court in <u>Eurofund</u> relied upon <u>Dawson v. Saada</u>, 608 So. 2d 806 (Fla. 1991), wherein this Court answered a certified question concerning the notice requirements of Section 197.522. Factually, the Dawsons sought to quiet title to real property based on a tax deed issued to them by the Broward County circuit court. The Saadas, title owners of the property, sought to set aside the tax deed on essentially the same grounds alleged here by Delta, that they did not receive "proper notice" under the statutory notice procedures. Specifically, the Saadas alleged that in addition to the certified mail notice of sale sent by the clerk of the circuit court, as required by §197.522(1)(a), (which this record unequivocally shows was sent *sub judice*), they were also entitled to receive personal service of the notice by the sheriff of the county pursuant to subsection (2) of the statute. <u>Id.</u> 807.

This Court held, <u>id.</u> at 808,n.1, that whether the owners received actual notice was <u>irrelevant</u>, because of the provisions of Section 197.522(1)(d): an interested person's failure to receive notice does <u>not</u> effect the validity of the tax deed and "thus, the relevant issue is whether the clerk complied with the notice provisions, not whether the owner actually received notice."

This Court held, <u>id.</u> at 808, that the "plain language" of Section 197.522 specifies the mandatory duties of the clerk upon an application for a tax deed, "namely that the <u>clerk must notify by mail the persons listed in the</u> <u>tax collector's statement</u>." (emphasis supplied) This Court rejected the Saadas' claim that the additional notice requirements of subsection 2 (personal service by the sheriff) were mandatory. Critically, this Court refused to impose <u>any</u> additional duties on the clerk, such as those advocated by Delta here. This Court's ultimate holding on the notice issue was that because the clerk had followed the mandatory statutory notice provisions by mailing a copy of the notice to those persons <u>at the addresses contained on</u> <u>the tax collector's statement</u>, the statutory notice requirements had been met and the tax deed was thus valid, <u>regardless of whether the tax collector's</u> <u>statement contained accurate information</u>. <u>Id.</u> at 809.

This Court's holding in <u>Dawson</u> was reaffirmed and applied by the first district in <u>Crane v. Martin</u>, 741 So. 2d 1251 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1999), wherein the Cranes appealed an adverse trial court ruling refusing to set aside a tax deed. The Cranes argued that because the notice of sale that was published failed to include the name of Barbara Crane, and because the notice of sale was not mailed to the Cranes' correct address (the notice was returned as undeliverable) the tax deed was invalid. The district court rejected those arguments and, relying on this Court's decision in <u>Dawson</u>, recognized that the clerk of the court had complied with the requirements of Section 197.522(1), for serving notice even though the Cranes claimed not to have actually received the notice. The district court held, <u>id.</u> at 1253, that because the clerk had mailed by certified mail the notice of the tax sale to the Cranes <u>at the address obtained from the tax collector</u>, regardless of whether that information was accurate, the clerk had complied with the statutory provisions and the tax deed was, therefore, valid.

Further, and more factually apposite to the claim made by Delta herein, the district court utterly rejected the Cranes' argument that because a quit-claim deed to the subject property by a predecessor in title contained their "correct" home address, the clerk was required to use that address when providing notice of the tax sale. The court refused to impose such a duty on the clerk and pointed out, as did this Court in <u>Dawson</u>, that the relevant issue is whether the clerk complied with the notice provisions by using the information supplied by the tax collector, <u>not</u> whether the owner actually received notice and <u>not</u> whether the tax collector's information supplied to the clerk was accurate. <u>Id.</u> at 1254.

In <u>Alwani v. Slocum</u>, 540 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1989), the Alwanis claimed that the tax deed was invalid because they did not receive notice of the pending sale, as the notice had been sent to a former address instead of their current address. Specifically, the Alwanis argued that the clerk of the circuit court and the tax collector had in fact been notified of their correct address, but had erroneously failed to send the notice of sale to the correct address. The second district rejected this argument and, relying upon Section 197.522(1)(a), found that the clerk sending notice to the address <u>contained on the tax collector's statement</u> constituted strict compliance with the statute and provided no grounds for invalidating the tax deed, regardless of whether the information supplied by the tax collector was accurate.

The second district court in <u>Alwani</u> relied upon the first district's decision in <u>Stubbs v. Cummings</u>, 336 So. 2d 412 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 1976), and this Court's decision in <u>Mullen v. Polk County</u>, 76 So. 2d 282 (Fla. 1954). This Court's holding in <u>Mullen</u> is dispositive of the claim made by Delta herein, that somehow the clerk's failure to ascertain the "correct" address for Delta renders a tax deed void:

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